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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K STREET N.W.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. Harvey J. Lippman, Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein to Congress
Committee

1345 Avenue of the Americas-45th Floor

New York, NY 10019

RE: MUR 747/NF 128
Dear Mr. Lippman:

On March 5, 1979, the Commigsion voted to accept
the conciliation agreement which you signed and dated
on February 21, 1979. A copy of the agreement signed
by you and the Commission's General Counsel is enclosed.

Accordingly, and upon my recommendation, the
Commission has closed the file in this matter.

If you have any questions, please contact Judy
Thedford, at 202-523-4529.

Sinceraly,

. Oldaker
General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement
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November 2, 1978
In tﬁigﬂatter of‘

Elect Lowcnstein“to
Congress Committee

MUR 747

St St S St

" CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, andlthe
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent,
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee (the Committee), violated
2 U.S.C. §434(a)(1)(A) (i) by filing its 10 Day Pre-Primary Election
Report late.

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
Election Commission and respondent Committee having duly entered
into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as
follows:

I. That the Federal Election Comm1551on has jurisdiction
over respondent and the subject of this proceeding.

II. That respondent Committee has had ‘a reasonable
opportunity to demonstratg that no action should be
taken in this matter. ;

III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are as

follows: y

A. That the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report filed by thé
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee shows
Pre-Primary receipts of $35,754.50 and Pre-Primary

expenditures of $36,673.58;
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making the report 9 days late.

HOT ‘

THEREFORE, respondent Committee agrees:

—

I.

Il.

IIX.

Respondent's action in failing to file its 10 Dﬁyi‘;_
Pre-Primary Election Report on September 2, 19763,‘
was in violation of 2 U.S;C. s434(a)(1)(5)(1).?h l
That it will pay a civil penalty in the amount

of $250 pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i)
Respondent agrees that it will‘not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C.

§431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

8 4

L

The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the
matters at issue herein, or on its own motion, may

review compliance with this agreement. If the

. [}

Commission believes that this aéreement or any
requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia.
It. is mutually agreed that this agreement shall -
become effective as‘of the date that all parties
hereto have executed same and the Commission has

approved the entire agreement.
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William C. OlGA’EE
General Counsel

~

Harvey J@ ppm&n’
Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein To Congress
Committee




VITO P. BATTISTA
141 WILLOUGHBY STREET
BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11!!!

301268

March 1, 1979
Mr. William C. Oldaker, General Counsel
Federal Election Commissien
1325 K Street, N.VW,
Washington, D.C.
Gentlemen:
Enclosed herewith Is a check for $50.00 for the
Civil Penalty as voted by the Commission.
The file on this matter Is MUR 747/NF#128.
| respectfully apprecliate and thank you for

your help in this matter.

Vito P. tista, R.A.

Enc: check
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Mr. William C. Oldaker, General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

1325 K Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C.
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Mr. Willlam C, Oldaker, General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

1325 K Street, N.VW,.

Washington, D.C.

ATTENTION »
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1325 K STREET NW.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM
TO: The cma.uio‘nor-
FROM: wnuu c. 01

-~ SUBJECT: MUR m,m iml Q

o ' Ry

v Attached is a comﬂi&t:l.on 3\  eme

-~ the respondent Elect Lovenltein !or Ccmm

~ Harvey J. Lippman on February 21, 1979, m&ﬁfferad as

s settlement in this matter. The $250 civil p.naity was

S also submitted to the Commission with the signed agreement.
b The attached agreement is identical to the original
i conciliation agreement approved by the Commission on

~N November 7, 1978.

The Office of the General Counsel recommends that the
conciliation agreement be accepted by the Commission l!

settlement of this matter.
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Elect Lowenstein to ) MUR 747 - '
Congress Committee ) : - ‘
' CONCILIATION AGREEMENT . e & >
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This matter having been initiated on the basis of inforuatinn
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervilory
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and-the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent,
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee (the Committee),.violated
2 U.S.C. 5434(a)(l)(A)(i{ by filing its 10 Day Pre-Primary Election
Report late. ‘

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the %ederal
Election Commission and respondent Committee having duly entered
into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as
follows: | :

I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction
over respondent and the subjectwof this proceeding.
IT. That respondent Committee has had'a feasonablg

opportunity to demonstrate that no action should be

.

S taken in this matter.
III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are'as
follows: :
A. That the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report filed by thé
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee shows *

Pre-Primary receipts of $35,754.50 and Pre-Primary

expenditures of $36,673.58;
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THEREFORE, respondent Committee agrees-

e

I.-

I

h i

‘report was filed on September 11, 1978, thercﬁg

making the report 9 days late.

Respondent's action in failing to file its lo Dny

Pre-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (1) . 58
That it will ﬁay a civil penalty in the amount

of $250 pursuant to 2 ULS.C. 5437g(a)(6)(§f(i).
Respondent agrees that it will-not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal,

Election Campalgn Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C.

431, et seqg.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

Io

II.

The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. 5437g(a)(l) concerning the
matters at issue herein, or on its own motion, may

review compliance with this agreement. If the

i .

Commission believes that this aéreement or any'
requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia.
It. is mutually agreed that this agreement shall -
become effective as‘of the date that all parties

hereto have executed same and the Commission has

approved the entire agreement.
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Date:

Date: FM 'HJ“’

William C, Oldaker
General Counsel

e e

Harvey ppmi&n’
Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein To Congress
Committee
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I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary to the Fe
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on 5
1979, the Commission accepted by a vbte of 6-0 th. 3
conciliation agreement, signed by the respondent Sloet
Lowenstein For Congress's treasurer, Harvey J. Id.m.

203803

which was attached to the General Counsel's Memorandum
dated March 1, 1979. The $250 civil penalty was also

submitted to the Commission with the signed agreement.

Attest:

Felfy  Aepee il Lo

Marjoire W. Emmons
Secretary to the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 3-1-79, 2:47
Circulated on 48 hour vote basis: 3-1-79, 4:15
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lect Lowenstein to Congress Committee
t/o Harvey J. Lippman, Treasurer

345 Avenue of the Americas - 45th floor
lew York, New York 10019

Federal Election Commissilon
1325 K Streest, NV,
Washington, D.C. 20463

Attention: Ms. Judy Thedford
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FEDERAI. ELECTION COMMISSDN

1325 K STREET N.W. R
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463 -y

&1

rebm 7. 1979

MEMORANDUM
TO: The Commission

FROM: William C. Oldakerg-g &\ww

SUBJECT: MUR 747/NF#128 ADDENDUM to mmaun ‘and
Conciliation Agreement circulated to the
Commission dated February 2, 1979
The Office of the General Counsel recommends that'the
conciliation agreement attached to the Memorandum dated
February 2, 1979 and signed by the respondent Vito Battista
on January 24, 1979, be accepted by the Commission in

settlement of this matter.

i L SR kLl L B e LR B A & faoy, il B, o Tt SRR AR s
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K SIREET N.W.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 30463

Pnbrunry_?,'l!?i .
MEMORANDUM '

TO: The Commission
FROM: William C. 01daker,9-9- ea\w co.

SUBJECT: MUR 747/NF#128 ADDENDUM to Memorandum and
Conciliation Agreement circulated to the
Commission dated February 2, 1979

The Office of the General Counsel recommends that the ?
conciliation agreement attached to the Memorandum dated
February 2, 1979 and signed by the respondent Vito Battista
on January 24, 1979, be accepted by the Commission in

settlement of this matter.

e
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February 12, 157!

CERTIFIED MAIL AEE e
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED e ‘

Mr. Vito Battista
141 Willoughby Street
Brooklyn, NY 11201

Re: MUR 747/8?#;28
Dear Mr. Battista:

On February 9, 1979, the Commission voted to accept
the conciliation agreement you signed and dated January
24, 1979. A copy of the agreement signed by you and the
Commission's General Counsel is enclosed.

The $50 civil penalty should be submitted to the
Commission within thirty days and the check made payable
to the "U.S. Treasurer."

Accordingly, and upon my recommendation, the Commission
has closed the file in this matter.

Should you have any questions, please contact Judy

Thedford at 202-523-4057.

William”C. Oldaker
General Counsel

Enclosure:
Conciliation Agreement

2 ” e e eadtaits Silenih Sl
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Jlnunry 11. 1979

In the Matter of )
MUR 747/NF #128
Vito Battista )

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its superviﬂgry
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that IQSponﬂent
Vito Battista violated 2 U.S.C. §432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2 by
filing his candidate statement late; and 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (1)
by filing his Ten Day Pre-Primary Election Report late:

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
Election Commission and respondent Vito Battista having duly
entered into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby
agree as follows: -

I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction over
the respondent and the subject of this proceeding.
II. That respondent Vito Battista has had a reasonable opportunity
to demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.
III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:
A. That respondent filed a designating petition with the
City Board of Elections in New York on July 27, 1978,
thereby obtaining status as a candidate for the U.S.
House of Representatives.
B. That respondent filed his candidate statement on January

2, 1979, the candidate statement was filed 149 days late.




That respondent filed a 30 Day Post-Election Report/
Termination Report on November 22, 1978 uhichMp-J,M’ :

the ten day pre~primary election reporting period.

Therefore, respondent agrees:

I. Respondent's action in failing to file a candidate

statement by August 6, 1978, was in viociation of

2 U.S.C. §432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2.

Respondent's action in failing to file his Ten hay Pre-

3

Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978, was in

b

violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (a) (1).

III. ﬁ?at he will pay a civil penalty in the amount of
50.00
PO pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i).

Respondent agrees that he will not undertake any

activity which is in violation of the Federal Election

7 90

Campaign of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. §431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I. The Commission, on the requeet of anyone filing a complaint

under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at issue

herein, or on its own motion, may review compliance with this

agreement. If the Commission believes that this agreement

or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may

institute civil action for relief in the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia.

‘It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall become

effective as of the date that all parties hereto have

executed same and the Commission has approved the entire






g’ BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECITON COMMISSION

In the Matter of ) £
) MUR 747/NF 128
Vito Battista ) it
CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary to the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on February 9,

~
gt 1979, the Commission approved by a vote of 6-0 the

5 conciliation agreement attached to the General Counsel's
o Memorandum dated Pebruary 2, 1979 regarding the above-

N captioned matter.

o The General Counsel recommended acceptance of the

il signed conciliation agreement as settlement of this matter
c; in his Memorandum dated PFPebruary 7, 1979.

o Attest:

™~

2/ots7

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary to the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: Friday, 2-2-79, 5:07

Circulated on 48 hour vote basis: Monday, 2-5-79, 12:00
Memo of 2-7-79 Received in Office of

Commission Secretary: 2-7-79, 11:00
Circulated on Informational basis: 2=7-79, 11:15
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SUBJECT: | cnn'rzrrcxm ON MUR 'u‘rm 128

The General Counsel's Memorandum ﬂmd !‘.h:my 2,

1979, was received in the Office of Commission Secretary
. on Friday, Februarv 2, 1979 at 5:07. The document was

circulated on a 48 hour vote basis on nnnday, February 5,
1979 at 12:00.

One hour before the voting deadline, the Commission
Secretary's Office received another Memorandum from the
General Counsel, dated February 7, 1979, regarding the
lack of "reco-endation" language in the first Memorandum.
The February 7 Memorandum was circulated, as per instruc-

tions from the General Counsel's Office, on an informational

basis at 11:15, February 7, 1979, fifteen minutes after
receipt in the Commission Secretary's Office.

At 10:30, February 9, 1979, the sixth confirmation
regarding the voting on this matter was rucutvnd in the
Office of Commission Secretary.

A certification reflecting the vote on this matter
is attached.

ATTACHMENT :
Certification - MUR 747/NF 128
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CEIVED
W!' T 0F THE
m".!..... .;:FRE TARY

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1325 K STREET NW. ?sffﬂ 2 PS§: 07

WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

Pahfuary 2, 1979

TO: The cbmiuion
FROM: William C. Oldake Al'
SUBJECT: MUR 747/NF #128 ;

Attached for the Commission's approwval is a conciliation
agreement signed by the respondent Vito Battista and offered
as settlement in this matter. After initiating conciliation
with the respondent, Mr: Battista filed a 30 Day Post-Primary
Election/Termination report which covered the ten day pre-
primary reporting period; and his candidate statement. Thus,
the attached agreement reflects Mr. Battista's late filing
status instead of non-filing.

In a conciliatory effort, Mr. Battista filed his candidate
statement on Januarv 2, 1979. The statement does not reflect
designation of a principal campaign committee as Mr. Battista
did not have a designated committee for the primary election.
He spent all his personal funds in the campaign and has reported
as such.

Mr. Battista also counterproposes a civil penalty of $50
and submitted the attached letter (Exhibit A) in his defense.
Attachments:

Conciliation Agreement
Letter
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VITO P. BATTISTA PRl Sl

4 - 141 VILLOUGHBY STREET 3
b ' BROOKL YN, NEW YORK 11201 T
% B ‘ 3 3 \-"1'-:: ‘Ii‘w: I:.n'l 2 :. l3‘ i e
VWiLL 1 am 0. OuLpaker (GEneRAL COUNSEL) A .
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION v i
1325 K STREET NORTH VEST [ 3 k3
WAsHINGTON, D. C. 20463 oes "

" JANUARY 24, 1979

DeEAR WiLL1am C, OLDAKER: — A
LAasT vYEAR THE REpuBL I1CAN LOUNTY LEADER SUGGESTED THAT |
RUN FOR CONGRESS IN THE 15 C.D. AND SUBMITTED MY NAME TO BE PLAGED ON
THE DESIGNATING PETITION, | WAS MADE TO UNDERSTAND THAT | WOULD NOT
HAVE A PRIMARY., |INSTEAD, A LAST MINUTE GHANGE BY THE LOCAL REPUBL ICAN
LEADERS FORCED ME INTO & PRIMARY, |T WAS TOO LATE TO WiTHDRAW MY NAME
FROM BALLOT AND | wAS COMPLETELY DISCOURAGED TO CARRY ON A CAMPAIGN FOR
| LACKED THE FUNDS TO DO SO,

- | HAD NO LOCAL POLITICAL HEADQUARTERS IN 15 C.D.
- | DID NOT APPOINT ANY COMMITTEE TO RAISE FUNDS
-~ | HAD NO LOCAL ORGANIZATION SUPPORT!

YEs, | WENT THROUGH THE MOTIONS OF RUNNING A CAMPAIGN AND
SPENT A FEW THOUSAND DOLLARS WHUICH | REPORTED TO THE COMMISSION, THe
EXPENSES WERE ALL PAID BY ME FROM PERSONAL FUNDS WHICH | COULD NOT AFFORD
TO USE,

AS A PERSONAL PROBLEM, | HAVE A WIFE WHO IS VERY, VERY SICK IN A
NURSING HOME (%0ODBURY, L.l.) WHICH 1S COSTING $500 PER WEEK, THIS HAS
CREATED A GREAT FINANCIAL BURDEN AND HARDSHIP CAUSING ME TO DIG INFO MY
ASSETS AND THAT OF MY WIFE., V/E HAVE BOTH SOLD ALL OUR INSURANCE POL ICIES
AND | AM IN FINANCIAL DISTRESS.

| WOw APPEAL TO YOU IF YOU COULD HELP ME TO REDUCE THE TIVIL
PENALTY TO $5%0.

| SINCERELY HOPE AND PRAY THAT THIS WILL BE ACCEPTABLE TO THE
Coum18s10K,

(e ]

c
()
(¥ 4
(e
N
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In the Matter of

THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
January 11, 1979 '

MUR 747/NF #128
= i

L
CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

N N St

Vito Battista

This matter having been initiat:? on th‘lé basis of information
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent
Vito Battista violated 2 U.S.C. §432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2 by
filing his candidate statement late; and 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (1)
by filing his Ten Day Pre-Primary Election Report'late..

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
Election Commission and resbondent Vito Battista having duly
entered into conciliaﬁion pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby
agree as follows: ™

I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction over

the respondent and the subject of this proceeding.

II. That respondent Vito Battista has had a reasonable opportunity
to demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.
III. That the pertinent'facts-in this matter are as follows:

A. That respondent filed a designating petition with ‘the
City Board of Elections in New York on July 27, 1978,
thereby obtaining status as a candidate for the U.S.
House of Representatives.

B. That respondent filed his candidate statement on January

2, 1979, the candidate statement was filed 149 days late.
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Ehlt ttspon@ent fg;%ﬁd tﬂ fiﬁi his Ten Day
; nieetion g.pow!: on g;v\ptemr’ 2, 1978. e
D.V That respondent filed a 30 nay Post-Election nagert/
'remination Report on waer zz, 1978 which cow:rcd

thc ten day p:e-prlmary election reporting period.“:'ff

Therefore, reapondent agrees: Sam A
I. Respondent's action in falling to file a candidate
statement by August 6, 1978; was in violation 6£-:-
2 U.s.C. §432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2.

II. Respondent's action in failing to file his Ten Day Pre-
Primary Election Report on September 2,°1978, was in
violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i).

III. That he will pay a civil penalty in the amount of
gﬁ:; pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i).

IV. Respondent agrees that he will not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal Election
Campaign of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. §431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I. The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a coﬁplaint
under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at issue
herein, or on its-own motion,.may review compliance with this
agreement. If the Commission believes that this agreement
or any requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United States
District Court for the District of Columbia.

II. ‘It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall become
effective as of the date that all parties hereto have

executed same and the Commission has approved the entire
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VITO P. BATTISTA i
141 WILLOUGHBY STREET .
BROOKL YN, NEW YORK 11201

"9 JAN 29 Fi 213

WiLL1am C, OLpaxER (GEMERAL CouNsEL)
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K STREET NORTK WEsT
WasHingTON, D. Co 20463

JANUARY 24, 199

Demm WitLiaw C. OLDAxER:

LAST YEAR THE RerusL 1CAN COUNTY LEADER SUGGESTED THAT |
RUN FOR CONGRESS 1N THE 15 C.D. AND SVBMITTED MY NAME TO BE PLAGED ON
THE DESIGNATING PETITION, | WAS MADE TO UNDERSTAND THAT | wouLD NOT
MAVE A PRIMARY, [INSTEAD, A LAST MINUTE CHANGE BY THE LOCAL REPUBL I CAN
LEADERS FORCED ME INTO A PRIMARY, [T wAS TOO LATE TO wITHDRAW MY NAME
FROM BALLOT AND | WAS COMPLETELY DISCOURAGED TO CARRY ON A CAMPAIGN FOR
| LACKED THE FUNDS TO DO §0.

= | HAD NO LOCAL POLITICAL HEADQUARTERS IN 15 C.D.
= | DID NOT APPOINT ANY COMMITTEE TO RAISE FUNDS
= | HAD NO LOCAL ORGANIZATION SUPPORT!

YES, | WENT THROUGH THE MOTIONS OF RUNNING A CAMPAIGN AND
SPENT A FEW THOUSAND DOLLARS WHICH | REPORTED TO THE Comm|SSION. THE

EXPENSES WERE ALL PAID BY ME FROM PERSONAL FUNDS WHICH | COULD NOT AFFORD
TO USE,

As A PERSONAL PROBLEM, | HAVE A WIFE WHO |S VERY, VERY $ICK IN A
NURSING HoME (WOODBURY, L.l.) WHICH 18 COSTING $500 PER WEEK. THIS HAS
CREATED A GREAT FINANCIAL BURDEN AND HARDSHIP CAUSING ME TO DIG INTO MY
ASSETS AND THAT OF MY WIFE, WE HAVE BOTH SOLD ALL OUR INSBURANCE POL ICIES
AND | AM IN FINANCIAL DISTRESS.

| NOW APPEAL TO YOU IF YOU COULD HELP ME TO REDUCE THE CIVIL
PENALTY TO $50.

| SINCERELY HOPE AND PRAY THAT THIS WILL BE ACCEPTABLE TO THE
Comm18510K,




141 WILLOUGHBY STREET
BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11201

REEEER

™M
@
o

WILLIAM C. OLDAKER (GENERAL COUNSEL)
FEDERAL ELECTION COWMMISSION

1325 K STREET, NORTH WesT
WASHINGTON, D. C. 20463
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@ SENDER Commam1 2,8nd 3
your sddrese in the RE‘I’URNT(T‘“
m -

0 RESTRICTED DELIVERY
Show to whom and date delivered ... .. .. ...
[ RESTRICTED DELIVERY
Show to whom, date, and address of delivery L_.
P (CONSULT POSTMASTER FOR FEES)

'EXRTnc:.;?Don 0

7 1;%4/ Cl) 7
’A:.(-{ l{ ;(,u'.L ‘rﬁi L AR —
B ’iL/ (6219

3 ARTICLE SCHIF‘I‘ION.
REGISTEREDNO. | CERTIFIED NO

INSURED NO.

(Always obtain of addressee or agent)
| have received the article descritidd abcve

6 UNABLE TO DELIVER BECAUSE:
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMM
125 K STREETNW,
WASHNGTON,DC. 20463

January 25;-1919

CERTIFIED MAIL
IPT REQUESTED

Elect Lowenstein to Congress
Committee

' ¢/o Mr. Harvey J. Lippman

Treasurer
1345 Avenue of the Americas-45th Floor
New York, NY 10019

Re: MUR 747/NF 128
Dear Mr. Lippman:

On January 18, 1979, the Commission voted to not
accept the conciliation agreement which you signed and
dated, December 14, 1978. Furthermore, the Commission
determined that a civil penalty less than $250 would
not be acceptable as settlement in this matter.

: Enclosed is the conciliation agreement orginally
sent to you on November 8, 1978 which reflects payment
of a $250 civil penalty. If you agree with the
provisions of the enclosed agreement, please sign and
return it, along with the civil penalty, to the
Commission within ten days. I will then recommend that
the Commission approve the agreement.

Please note that if we are unable to reach an
agreement, the Commission may institute civil suit
in the United States District Court and seek pay-
ment of a civil penalty.

If you have any questions, please contact Judy
Thedford at 202-523-4057. °

% General Counsel

Enclosure:
Conciliation Agreement
cc: Mr. Allard K. lLowenstein




BEFOKE THB Pnbiﬂhh !LECTION CGHHISBIO!;
Hbvnnber 2, 1978

In the Hpttér of

Elect Lowenstein to
Congress Committee

" CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of intsruatiOn
ascertained in the normal course of cérrying out its supervisory
responsibilities, an investigatioﬁ having been conducted, and the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent,
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee (the Committee), violated
2 U.S.C. S§$434(a) (1) (A) (i) by filing its 10 Day Pre-Primary Election
Report late.

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
Election Commission and respondent Committee having duly entered
into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as
follows:

I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction
over respondent and the subjectisf this proceeding.
That respondent Committee has had 'a reasonable
opportunity to demonstratg that no action should be
taken in this matter. A
That the pertinent facts in this matter are as
follows: _

A. That the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report filed by thé
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee shows -
Pre-Primary receipts of $35,754.50 and Pre-Primary

expenditures of $36,673.58;




That the Committee, as of September 2,_1979_5&&%”_:

failed to file its 10 Day Pre-Primary Report; th&
"report was filed on September 11; 1978, thereby
making the report 9 days 1ate;
THEREFORE, respondent Committee agrees:
_I. Respondent's action in failing to file its 10 Day
Pre-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i).
That it will pay a civil penalty in the amount
of $250 pursuant to 2 UlS.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (1).
Respondent agrees that it will not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal

Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C.

§431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I. The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the
matters at issue herein, or onm its own motion, may

review compliance with this agreement. If the

o [y

Commission believes that this aéreement or any
requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia.
It.is mutually agreed that this agreement shall -
become effective as.of the date that all parties
hereto have executed same and the Commission has

approved the entire agreement.
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Date:

Date:

It il agxe.d that.respondent Commlttee shall ﬁlvc no

S
x 1,130} days from the date of this agroament

to implement ahﬁ comply with the requirements contained

herein, or so notify the Commission.

mora thln 1

William C. Oldaker
) g General Counsel

Harvey J. Lippman
Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein To Congress
Committee




MUR 747/NF 128

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary to the Federal Election
Cammission, certify that on January 18, 1979, the Commission,
meeting in an executive session at which a quorum was present,
determined by a vote of 5-0 t require the respondent in the
above-captioned matter to pay the civil penalty in the amount of
$250.00 as provided for in the original conciliation agreement

approved by the Commission.
Conmissioners Aikens, McGarry, Springer, Thosson, and
Tiernan voted affirmatively for this determination. Cosmissioner Harris

was not present at the time of the vote.

Date f




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K STREET N.W.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM TO: CHARLES STEELE u) L
FROM: MARJORIE W. EMMONS ‘)’ﬂ
JANUARY 11, 1979
MUR 747/NF 128 - Memorandum to Commissioners
dated January 10, 1979; Received in 0OCS
1-10-79, 11:04
The above-named document was circulated on a 48
hour vote basis at 3:00, January 10, 1979.

Commissioner Thomson submitted an objection at

3:27, January 11, 1979, thereby placing MUR 747/NF 128 on

the Executive Session Agenda for January 18, 1979.
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T9JANID All: 04

January 10, 1979
TO:  The Commissioners i Lol
FROM:  William C. o:uuker“u,
SUBJECT:  MUR 747/NF 128

Attached for the Commission's approval is a
conciliation agreement signed by Harvey Lippman,
treasurer of the Elect Lowenstein Committee. This
conciliation agreement differs from the agreement
previously approved by the Commission in that the
respondent's counterproposal provides for a $50

civil penalty.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
November 2, 1978
In the Matter of

Elect Lowenstein to
Congress Committee

L

MUR 747

" CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information
ascertained in the normal couise of carrying out its supervisory
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe thﬁﬁ respondent,
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee (the Committee), violated
2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i) by filing its 10 Day Pre-Primary Election
Report late.

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
Election Commission and respondent Committee having duly entered
into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as
follows:

I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction
over respondent and the subjectiof this proceeding.

II. That respondent Committee has had a reasonable
opportunity to demonstrate that no action should be
taken in this matter.

III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are as

follows:

A. That the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report filed by the
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee shows
Pre-Primary receipts of $35,754.50 and Pre-Primary

expenditures of $36,673.58;
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B. That the Committee, as of September 2, 1978 had
"failed to file its 10 Day Pre-Primary Report; the
report was filed on September 11, 1978, thereby

0| 2 0.3 3

1
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making the report 9 days latel

THEREFORE, respondent Committee agrees:

I. Respondent's action in failing to file its 10 Day
Pre-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violation of 2 U.S;C. 5434(a)(1)(hf(£);

II. That it will pay a civil penalty in the amount
of S‘EO pursuant to 2 U;S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (1).
III.

Respondent agrees that it will not undertake any

‘activity which is in violation of the Federal

Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C.

§431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I.

II.

The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the
matters at issue herein, or on its own motion, may
review compliance with this agreement. If the
Commission believes that this agreement or any
requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia.
It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall
become effective as of the date that all parties
hereto have executed same and the Commission has

approved the entire agreement.
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ITI. I’t is agreed that respondent Committee shall have m

‘ notg than thirty _:(30) days from the date of this agreement
to implement and comply with the requirements contained
herein, or so notify the Commission. '

Date:

"William C. Oldaker
General Counsel

Date: Decembers 2¥ (97¢

Treasurer
Elect Lowenstein To Congress
Committee :

RS ' BA kL N A e T el L R o )
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FEDERAL ELEcnoﬁ OC)MMISS&ON e

1325 K STREET N.W. ‘ el
WASHINGTON,D.C. aﬂﬁi — ]

Jinuazy 15, 1979

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. Vito Battista , _ o
141 Willoughby Street i T
Brooklyn, NY 11201 !

Re: MUR 747/NF #128

Dear Mr. Battista:

Enclosed for your signature is a revised conciliation
agreement. This agreement reflects your late filing of the
candidate statement and the Ten Day Pre-Primary Election
Report whereas the previous agreement to sent to you re-
flected a non-filing status. :

If you agree with the provisions of the attached
agreement, please sign and return it, along with the
civil penalty, to the Commission within ten days.

Any questions or suggestions for changes to the
conciliation agreement should be directed to Judy
Thedford, the staff member assigned\to this matter,
at 202-523-4057 or our toll free n r 800-424-9530.

General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement

. 2 -
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
January 11, 1979

In the Matter of
MUR 747/NF #128

Tt S Nt

Vito Battista

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information
ascertained in the normal course of carfying out its éupervisory,-
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent
Vito Battista violated 2 U.S.C. §432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2 by
filing his candidate statement late; and 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i)
by filing his Ten Day Pre-Primary Election Report late.

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
Election Commission and resbondent Vito Battista having duly
entered into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby
agree as follows: " |

I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction over
the respondent and the subject of this proceeding.
II. That respondent Vito Battista has had a reasonable opportunity
to demonstrate that no action should be taken in this matter.
III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:
A. That respondent filed a designating petition with the
City Board of Elections in New York on July 27, 1978,
thereby obtaining status as a candidate for the U.S.
House of Representatives.
B. That respondent filed his candidate statement on January

2, 1979, the candidate statement was filed 149 days late.
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C. That respondent failqgigoﬂkile his Ten Day,?zaaﬁggﬁ;gy
- Election Report 6n September 2, 1978.

D. That respondent filed a 30 Day Post-Election Report/
Termination Repurt on November 22, 1978 which covered

the ten day pre-primary election reporting period.

Therefore, respondent agrees:

I. Respondent's action in failing to file a candidate

statement by August 6, 1978, was in violation of

2 U.S.C. §432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2.

II. Respondent's action in failing to file his Ten Day Pre-

Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978, was in
violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (1).

III. That he will pay a civil penalty in the amount of

$250 pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i).

IV. Respondent agrees that he will not undertake any

activity which is in violation of the Federal Election

Campaign of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. §431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I.

II.

The Commission, on the reéueat of anyone filing a coﬁplaint
under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at issue
herein, or on its own motion, ﬁay review compliance with this
agreement. If the Commission believes that this agreement
or any requirement thersof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia.

‘It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall become

effective as of the date that all parties hereto have

executed same and the Commission has approved the entire
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DATE:

DATE:

hxplmnt and aomply w:l.th tht. mﬂirmzxta uonuintﬁ

herein, or so notify'tha;ﬂpm;i_:tiiqgo

General Counsel

e

Vito Battista

eSS0 T el




FEC Form 2
July 1976
Federal Election Commission

1325 K Street, N.W. Federal Office
. iy ol (“Candidate’ a8 defined by 2 USC 431 (b))
{Bee reverse side for instructions)

- et 'mmmt of a Candidate
for Nomination or Election to

with respect to each slection.

Nots: Committees authorized to receive contributions and make expenditures in connection with more than one election must maintain separste records

1(a) Name of Candidate (

79 JAH 2 Y 3% iy
2 Identification Number (Commission 3
use only)

~

f\'o -]; gﬂ?ﬂ‘-’“‘"
ST

(e) City, Sta

WY [1a0g”

8 District and S:

(Y ear of slection)

Designation of Principal Campaign Committee “
6 | hereby designate the following named politics! committee 8 my Principal Campaign Committee for the

election(s). Note: The principal campeign committee must register as a political committee

on FEC Form 1.

{a} Name of Committee (in full)

- 2T N Ll
(b} Address (number and street) YUJiawlU
M
{c) City, State end ZIP code
am
~F 7 1 hareby designate the following nations! and/or State benk (s) as campaign depositories to be used by myssH and the above political committee.
el (s} Name of Bank (in full) {a) Name of Bank (in full}
~ )
- N
(b} Address (number and strest) ~| (b) Address (number and nrmW
=T
. ﬂ Py / /
o (e) City, State and ZIP code ‘W (c) City, State and ZIP code /
o {a) Name of Bank {in full) / {s) Name of Bank (im full)
™~
(b) Addrems (number snd street ) (b} Address (nurber and strest)
{c)City, Swte and ZIP code {c} City, State and ZIP code

Candidate Reporting S$eatus

8 Check Reporting Status (a) or (b) (whichever is applicable)

mission Form 3.

VK"’ | intend to Iy
upondltutu requ by 2 t.?cm aon

Cla) 1 hereby certify thet the above nemed esanmittee and suthorized agents thereof will receive and dishurse ALL funds in support of my cendidacy in the
sbove election(s). Based upon this certification | hareby request a waiver of my reporting respemeibility. If, after filing this form, | personally receive
contributions or make expenditures, the waiver becomes void and | must file 8 ssparate report e required by 2 USC 494 on Federal Election Com-

contributions smd/or make expenditures in support of my cendideoy amd will file separa v reports of such receipts and
| Election Commission Form 3.

(Signature of Candidate)

§441) (see side of form)

| certify %#sz;ﬂ- %0 the best of my knowledge and belief It Is true, correct and complete. e

Note: Submissien of fijse, erremesus, er Incomplete information may subject the person signing this Statement tc the penaities of 2 U.S.C. J437g or

(Cpte)

Fer furtiver Federal Election Commission
(nbormetion 1325 K Street, N.W.
comieet: Washington, D.C. 20463
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1. The following service is requested (check one).
=] to whom and date detivered. ..... ... . AL
how to whom, date, and address of delivery. .__ ¢

D RESTRICTED DELIVERY
Show to whom and date delivered. .. ........__ €&

[0 RESTRICTED DELIVERY
Show to whom, dat&, and address of delivery .§.___

(CONSULT POSTFASTER FOR FEES)
2 ARTICLE ADDFIEW }%(f/“"'

< .r‘_‘.-' ,"t.‘-..-“ L
\-;/ AA / / fi ::_ _7'_§f_/_/;8f’1q/
3. ARTICLE DESCHIPTION 3
REGISTERED NO. | CERTIFIED NO = INSURED NO.

2923

(Always obtain signature of addruee or agent)

| have received the arllcle described above

SIGNATURE | Addressee [ Authorized agent
j -
éé»a (g <
DATE OF ELIVERY POSTMAHK
I
5 ADDRESS Complare only :I-;eq;e;r_edl l

6. UNABLE TO DELIVER BECAUSE: CLERK'S
P INITIALS

LU Ty

PP
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December 1#,G1978

Federal Election Commission

1325 K Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20463 Gk SRR 20
Attention: Ms, Judy Thedford : i 693?34

Re: MUR T47 (78)

Dear Ms. Thedford:

Enclosed please find an executed copy of
a conciliation agreement in the above-captioned
matter. In accordance with our telephone conversa-
tion of December 13, 1978, I have amended page 2 of
the agreement to provide for a civil penalty in the
amount of $50.00, as agreed, rather than the $250.00
penalty originally inserted.

Thank you very much for your cooperation in
this matter. I trust that you will inform me when
the Commission takes action upon the agreement so
that the Committee may properly implement 1t.

Very truly yours,

Treasurer

HJL:bk
Enclosure

cc: Honorable Allard K. Lowenstein
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In the Matter of

Elect Lowenstein to
Congress Committee

i
v AR
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

‘November 2, 1978

MUR 747

- CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information

ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory

responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the

Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent,

Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee (the Committee), violated

2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i) by filing its 10 Day Pre-Primary Election

Report late.

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal

Election Commission and respondent Committee having duly entered

into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as

follows:

I.

IX.

III.

That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction

over respondent and the subject.of this proceeding.

That respondent Committee has had a reasonable

opportunity to demonstrate that no action should be

taken in this matter.

That the pertinent facts in this matter ar= as

follows:

A. That the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report filed by the
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee shows
Pre-Primary receipts of $35,754.50 and Pre-Primary

expenditures of $36,673.58;
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5. Bkt he Coumittes, A& Of September 2, mam |
‘failad to file its 10 Day Pre-Primary Reporé: the
report was filed on September 11, 1978, thereby
making the report 9 deays late.

THEREFORE, respondent Committee agrees:

I.

II.

III.

Respondent's action in failing to file its 10 Day
Prxe-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violatlon of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i) .
That it will pay a civil penalty in the amount

of $350 pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i).
Respondent agrees that it will not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C.

§431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

II

II.

The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the
matters at issue herein, or on its own motion, may
review compliance with this agreement. If the
Commission believes that this agreement or any
requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia.
It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall
become effective as of the date that all parties
hereto have executed same and the Commission has

approved the entire agreement.




It is ngrdcq that respondent Committee shall hlvb,nqr

more than thirty (30) days from the date of this agreement
to implement an& comply with the requirements contained

herein, or so notify the Commission.

William C. Oldaker
General Counsel

Deternbers ¥ 197¢

Treasuré@&r
Elect Lowenstein To Congress
Committee
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MEMORANDUM TO ~ CHARLES STEELE Lo

FROM: MARJORIE W. mmg j’?ﬂ
DATE : DECEMBER 26, 1978 .
SUBJECT : NF #128/MUR 747 - Interim Conciliation

Report dated 12-20-78: Received in
0CS 12-22-78, 10:40
The above-named document was circulated on a 24
hour no-objection basis at 1:15, December 22, 1978.
The Commission Secretary's Office has received

no objections to the Interim Conciliation Report as of
2:00 this date.




m 32. 1918

MEMORANDUM  TO: mm £ oo Ot
FROM: - Elissa 7. Garr - o T
SUBJECT: L e

o Please have mmm muauan

n Report on NF1228 mmhm cu—iul.on on

™ a 24 howr no-objection basis. e

Thank you.
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D)RE FEDE ELECTION com:ssfog CCRET i
Dec r 18, 1978

AlD: 48

In the Matter of

New York 10 Day Pre-
Primary Non-Filers

NF#128/MUR 747

)
)
)
)

INTERIM CONCILIATION REPORT

On November 7, 1978, the Commission voted to initiate
conciliation with respondents Vito Battista and Elect Lowenstein
to Congress Committee. Letters and conciliation agreements were
sent to the respondents on November 8, 1978.

On November 17, 1978, respondent Elect Lowenstein to Congress
Committee sent in a counterproposal. After negotiating further
with the respondent, an agreement was reached; the conciliation
agreement will be presented to the Commission shortly.

Respondent Vito Battista did not respond to the conciliation
agreement sent to him by the Commission. A letter was sent to the

respondent requesting his response by December 28, 1978.

o ’2/za/7g_ —/&c),w-— /Aﬁ

William C. Olddker’
General Counsel
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rmﬂt smcmN COMMISSION
; IMSKSHHETNRV
¥ WASHINGCTON,D.C. 20463

December 14, 1978

CERTIFIED MAIL
EEQUESTED

Mr. Vito Battista
289 Etna Street
Brooklyn, NY 11208

B

MUR 747/NF #128
Dear Mr. Battista:

On November 18, 1978, you received a conciliation agreement

“that this ,office proposes in settlement of MUR 747/NF #128. You

were also notified that you had ten days from the date you
received the letter to agree to the provisions stated in the
agreement or to notify us of any suggestions for change. To date,
we have not received a response from you.

Please note, that under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (5) (A), the
Commission has a duty to attempt to correct such violations for
a period of thirty days by informal methods of conference,
conciliation, and persuasion, and by entering into a concilia-
tion agreement. If we are unable to reach an agreement during
that period, the Commission, upon a finding of probable cause
to believe a violation has occurred, may institute a civil
suit in the United States District Court and seek a civil
penalty.

Unless we receive your response by Thursday, December 28,
1978, this office will recommend to e Commission that they
find probable cause to believe a violatipn has occurred.

Sincerely;
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November 17, 1% E il 50

1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20463

Attention: Ms. Judy Thedford
™ Re: MUR 747 (78)
Dear Ms. Thedford:

In accordance with our conversation of November 14,
o 1978, I am writing to you in response to the letter of William
C. Oldaker, dated November 8, 1978, and the enclosed Concilia-
tion Agreement. The Concliliation Agreement relates to the
—— Commission's concern ardising out of the late filing of the 10-day
Pre-Primary Election Report, which was due September 2, 1978 and
- received by the Commission on September 11, 1978.

2 As I indicated to you in our conversation, I am Treasurer
of Mr. Lowenstein's campaign committee and the person primarily

o respansible far the filing of these reports with the Commission.

o I am an attormey actively engaged in the private practice of law in
New Yark City. My professional involvement required my contiruance

™~ appearance in Federal District Court in Rhode Island the week prior

to and subsequent to this past Labor Day weekend. Although the 10-
day Pre-Primary Election Report was substantially campleted prior
to my departure from New York, the final review and signature
awalted my return. It was necessary for me to compare the report,
as prepared, to the underlying books and records of the committee
so that I would be in a position to verify its accuracy. This was
done immediately upon my return, and the report filed, by mail,
pramptly thereafter, and in no event later than September 7, 1978.

I urderstand the need for the prampt filing of these reports
and the need to abide by the flling schedule set forth by the Cam-
mission. Every attempt has been made by the committee to comply
with each amd every Commission regulaticn and I regret the late filing
which was due to circumstances beyond my control. I have no reason
to question the Cammission's findings but feel that the imposition
of a civil penalty in the amount of $250 would be unfair under these
circumstances. »
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Ms. Judy Thedford
November 17, 1978
Page Two

I have discussed this matter with Mr. Lowenstein
and we feel that no action should be taken by the Commission
in light of the relatively brief delay in the filing of the
report, a delay which could not be avoided. However, we would
like to resolvetlﬂ.smatteruitrnxtdelayormmm,-

Sincerely,

oot TARE

Treasurer

HIL:bk
cc: Honorable Allard K. Lowenstelin




‘a4 ‘addpnosapg

Federal Election Commission
Na

1325 K Street, W.
Washington, D.C. 20463

Attention: Ms. Judy Thedford
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
125 K STREETNW.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

November 8, 1978

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. Vito Battista
289 Etna Street
Brooklyn, NY 11208

RE: MUR 747 (78)
Dear Mr. Battista:

On August 2, 1978 and September 6, 1978, the Commission
found reasonable cause to believe that you violated 2 U.S.C.
§432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2 for failing to file a
candidate statement and designate a principal campaign commit-
tee; and 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) for failing to file a Ten Day
Pre-Election Report.

The Commission has a duty to attempt to correct such
violations for a period of 30 days by informal methods of
conference, conciliation and persuasion, and by entering
into a conciliation agreement. 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (5) (A).

If we are unable to reach an agreement during that period,
the Commission may institute civil suit in the United States
District Court and seek payment of a civil penalty.

We enclose a proposed conciliation agreement that this
office is prepared to recommend to the Commission in settle-
ment of this matter.

If you agree with the provisions of the enclosed agreement,
please sign and return it along with civil penalty, to the
Commission within ten days. I will then recossmend that the
Commission approve the agreement.

If you have any questions or suggestions for changes in



the enclosed conciliation agreement, please contact Judy
Thedford, the staff member assigned to this matter, at
202-523-4057.

Sincergly.

General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement
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November 2, 1978 '
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BEFORE

In the Matter of )
: : ) MUR 747
Vito Battista y )

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent
Vito Battista violated 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i) by failing to file
his 10 Day Pre-Primary Election Report.

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
Election Commission and respondent Vito Battista having duiy entered
into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as follows:

I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction
over respondent and the subject of this proceeding.
II. That respondent has had a reasonable opportunity to
demonstrate that no action should be taken in this
matter.
III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:
A. That the respondent, as of November 2, 1978, had
failed to file a candidate statement and designate a
principal campaign committe for 1978 primary election.
B. That the respondent, as of November 2, 1978, had failed
to file his 10 Day Pre-Primary Report which was due on

September 2, 1978.



THEREFORE, respondent agrees: ey

I. Respondent's action in failing to file hia‘ciﬂ&idhigi§ '
statement and designate a principal campaign for thdw?i
1978 New York Primary was in violation of 2 U.S.C;*iiiz
(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2.

II. Respondent's action in failing to file his 10 Day
Pre-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (1) .

e III. Respondent will file the candidate statement and

N designate a principal campaign committee as a

™M provision of this conciliation agreement.

o IV. Respondent will file the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report
=N of receipts and expenditures as a provision of this
:: ~onciliation agreement.

;&_ V. That he will pay a civil penalty in the amount of
- $250 pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i).

o VI. Respondent agrees that he will not undertake any

™~

activity which is in violation of the Federal Election
Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. §431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I. The Commission, on:the request of anyone filing a complaint
under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at issue
herein, or on its own motion, may review ccmpliance with
this agreement. If the Commission believes that this
agreement or any requirement thereof has been violated,
it may institute civil action for relief in the United

States District Court for the District of Columbia.




It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall beeuiﬁ

effective as of the date that all parties haroto hwvc-
executed same and the Commission has approvad the qu;re
agreement.

It is agreed that respondent shall have no more than
thirty (30) days from the date of this agreement to
implement and comply with the requirements contained

herein, or so notify the Commission.

William C. Oldaker
General Counsel

203 6 1

Vito Battista

7 90410




FEDERAL ELE(’.TBGN COMMISS!ON

1325 K STREET N.\QL

November 8, 1978

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. Harvey J. Lippman, Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein to Congress Committee
1345 Avenue of the Americas - 45th Floor
New York, NY 10019

RE: MUR 747 (78)
Dear Mr. Lippman:

On September 6, 1978, the Commission found reasonable
cause to believe that your committee, Elect Lowenstein To
Congress Committee, was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1)
for failing to file the 10 Day Pre-Election Report timely.

The Commission has a duty to attempt ta correct such
violations for a period of 30 days by informal methods of
conference, conciliation, and persuasion, and by entering
into a conciliation agreement. 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (5) (A).

If we are unable to reach an agreement during that period,
the Commission may institute civil suit in the United States
District Court and seek payment of a civil penalty.

We enclose a proposed conciliation agreement that this
office is prepared to recommend to the Commission in settlement
of this matter.

If you agree  with the provisions of the enclosed
conciliation agreement, please sign and return it along with
the civil penalty, to the Commission within ten days. I will
then recommend that the Commission approve the entire agreement.

If you have any questions or suggestions for changes in the
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enclonad agreement, please contact Judy Thedford, the staff
member assigned to this matter, at 202-523-4057.

sincerely,

William C. Oiz/;er

General Counsel
Enclosure:
Conciliation Agreement

N cch Allard K. Lowenstein
305 East 24th Street, Apt. 17F

" New York, NY 10010
M
o
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
November 2, 1978
In the Matter of

Elect Lowenstein to
Congress Committee

MUR 747

T T S S

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisary
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the

~. Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent,

Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee (the Committee), wviolated

M 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i) by filing its 10 Day Pre-Primary Election
S Report late.
f\!
Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
= Election Commission and respondent Committee having duly entered
- into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as
o follows:
=) I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction
™~

over respondent and the subject’of this proceeding.
II. That respondent Committee has had a reasonable
opportunity to demonstrate that no action should be
taken in this matter.
III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are as
follows:
A. That the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report filed by the
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee shows
Pre-Primary receipts of $35,754.50 and Pre-Primary

expenditures of $36,673.58;
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B. That the Committee, as of September 2, 1978 had
lfailed to file its 10 Day Pre-Primary Report; tha
report was filed on September 11, 1978, thereby

making the report 9 days late.

THEREFORE, respondent Committee agrees:

I.

II.

III.

Respondent's action in failing to file its 10 Day
Pre-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (1i).
That it will pay a civil penalty in the amount

of $250 pursuant to 2 U;S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i).
Respondent agrees that it will not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C.

§431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I.

LLs

The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C; §437g(a) (1) concerning the
matters at issue herein, or on its own motion, may
review compliance with this agreement. If the
Commission believes that this agreement or any
requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia.
It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall
become effective as of the date that all parties
hereto have executed same and the Commission has

approved the entire agreement.
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III. It is ggpgqéufngt'rﬁlpondent Committee shall have no

mo:;\fhiﬁitﬁiggiftaﬁl days from the date of this agreement
to implement and comply with the requirements contained

herein, or so negify the Commission.

Date:

William C. Oldaker
General Counsel

Date:

Harvey J. Lippman

Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein To Congress
Committee
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of ) s L
) MUR 747 (78)
New York 10 Day Pre- ) ek
Election Primary Non-Filers )
CERTIFICATION i o

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary to the Pcdm".l
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on Nbv-lh-r 7
1978, the Commission determined by a vote of 6-0 to approve
the following recommendations as set forth in the General
Counsel's Report dated November 2, 1978, and the revised
page 4 of the report which was attached to the General
Counsel's memorandum dated November 6, 1978, regarding the
above-captioned matter:

1. Take no further action at this time
and close thae file with respect to
Irving Gross, Wicholas DeMartino,

Katz For Congress Committee, and
Owen Augustin.

2. Initiate conciliation with respondents Vito
Battista and Elect Lowenstein to Congress
Committee. Approve the conciliation
agreements attached to the above-named
report. Send the letters attached to
the above-named report.

Attest:

gl y 5,

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
k] Secretary to the Commission

Report signed by General Counsel: 11-3-78
Report received in Office of Commission Secretary: 11-3-78, 11:00
Circulated on 48 hour vote basis: 11-3-78, 12:00

Memorandum received in Office of Commissien Secretary: 11-6-78, 10:56
Circulated on 48 hour vote basis: 11-6-78, 12:30




8 FEDERAL ELECTION (

1325 K STREET N.W.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

TO: The Commissioner

FROM: William C. Oldak

SUBJECT: MUR 747 (78)

™~ Attached is a revised page 4 of the General Counsel's

" Report on MUR 747. The report incorrectly identified

- Mr. Augustin's committee as the Committee to Elect Lowenstein
2 To Congress. The revigsed page reflects Mr. Augustin's

s committee name as Committee To Elect Augustin to Congress.

<

o
o
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more than 30% of the votes cast and the committee reported financial

activity exceeding $25,000, the Office of the General Counsel
recommends, in accordance with the Commission’s non-filing pro-
cedures dated May 23, 1978, initiating conciliation with respondent
Elect Lowenstein to Congress Committee.

OWEN AUGUSTIN

Owen Augustin was a Democratic candidate for the U.S. House
of Representatives. He lost the election receiving 1,419 votes or
6.8% of the votes cast. After publication of respondent Owen
Augustin's name, his committee, Committee to Elect Augustin to
Congress, filed two ten day pre-election reports listing financial
activity aggregating $6,574 on one report and $3,702 on the other.
As the candidate received less than 30% of the vote and the committee
has reported minimal financial activity, the Office of the General
Counsel, in accordance with the Commission's non-filer procedures
dated May 23, 1978, recommends that no further action be taken

against respondent Owen Augustin.

III. RECOMMENDATION
1. Take no further action at this time and close the file
with respect ¢o the following respondents:
Irving Gross
Nicholas DeMartino
Katz For Congress Committee
Owen Augustin
2. Initiate conciliation with respondents Vito Battista and
Elect Lowenstein to Congress Committee. Approve the attached

conciliation agreements. Send the attached letters.
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MEMORANDUM TO: Marge Emmons

FROM:
SUBJECT: MUR 747

Please have the attached General Counsel's Report
mh?ﬂﬂo&Wtﬂ@h’ﬂ_iWﬂ.iam
tally hadd4g,

Bhank you.
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rri. 1978

In The Matter Of

New York 10 Day Pre-
Election Primary Non-Filers

MUR 747 (78)

I. BACKGROUND

On September 29, 1978, the Reports Analysis Division referred
to the Office of the General Counsel the names of candidates and
committees which failed to file a ten day pre-election report for
the New York Primary in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a)(l). The
reports were due September 2, 1978. The reason to believe notices
were sent on September 4, 1978 and the reasonable cause to believe
notices were mailed September 6, 1978. On September 9, 1978, a list
of those candidates and committees which failed to file the 10 day

pre-primary report was published.

II. ANALYSIS
A copy of the Reports Analysis Referral (Exhibit A) and a
chart of the New York non-filers (Exhibit B) is attached.

IRVING GROSS

Mr. Gross was a Democratic candidate for the U.S. House of
Representatives. He lost the primary receiving 2,141 votes or
10.2% of the votes cast. On September 5, 1978, the candidate filed
a statement of candidacy and his principal campaign committee,
Committee to Elect Irving Gross to Congress, filed a Statement
of Organization. No financial reports have been filed by either the
candidate or the committee. In accordance with the Commission

amendment to the non-filer précedures adopted October 26, 1978,
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the Office of the General Counsel recommends taking nn”!u:thﬁtniﬂgton
against respondent Irving Gross si&nce no financdal activity data:il
available for either the candidate or committee, the candidate did
nat win the election or receive more than 30% of the vote.

VITO BATTISTA

Mr. Battista was a Republican candidate for the U.S. House
of Representatives in the New York Primary. Mr. Battista lost
the primary election receiving 1,077 votes or 35% of the votes cast.
Mr. Battista has not filed any reports or statements with the
Commission. His name was also referred to the Office of General
Counsel for failing to file a candidate statement and designate
a principal campaign committee. (See Exhibit C). As respondent
Vito Battista receivéd more than 30% of the votes cast and has
not filed any reports or statements, the Office of the General Counsel,
in accordance with the Commission non-filer procedures dated May
23, 1978, recommends initiating conciliation with respondent Vito
Battista.

NICHOLAS DEMARTINO

Respondent Nicholas DeMartino was a Democratic candidate for the

U.S. House of Representatives. The candidate lost the primary
receiving 3,124 votes or 13.4% of the votes cast. On September 8,
1978, Mr. DeMartino filed an amended candidate statement and waived
his reporting requirements. The candidate previously reported
expending $1,095 on his July 10 Quarterly Report. The ten day
pre-election report filed before publication on September 8, 1978

by Mr. DeMartino's principal campaign committee reported financial

activity aggregating $2,251.43. As both the candidate's amended
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statement and the committee's 10 day pre-election report were filed
on September 8, 1978, it appears that the candidate's activity

is reported in the committee's filing. As the candidate had

minimal financial activity, received 13.4% of the votes, and

waived his reporting requirements on September 8, 1978, the Office

of the General Counsel recommends, in accordance with the Commission's
non-filing procedures dated May 23, 1978, that no further action

be taken against respondent Nicholas DeMartino.

KATZ POR COMGRESS COMMITTEE

Howard Katz was a Democratic candidate for the U.S. Bouse of
Representatives. He lost the primary election receiving 971 wvotes
or 2.8% of the votes cast. Respondent Katz For Congress Committee
filed its ten day pre-election report after publication revealing
financial activity aggregating $3,112.50. As the committee reported
minimal financial activity and the candidate received less than 30%
of the votes cast, the Office of the General Counsel, in accordance
with the Commission's non-filing procedures dated May 23, 1978,
recommends that no further action should be taken against respondent
Katz For Congress Committee.

ELECT LOWENSTEIN TO CONGRESS COMMITTEE

Mr. Lowenstein was a Democratic candidate of the U.S. House
of Representatives. He lost the election receiving 13,632 votes or
39.9% of the votes cast. The respondent, Elect Lowenstein to
Congress Committee, filed a ten day pre-election report after publication.
The report listed financial activity aggregating $72,428.08 for the
ten day reporting period. The previous report filed by the committae
was the July 10 Quarterly report which listed financial activity

aggregating $12,437.17 and was filed late. As the candidate received
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more than 30% of the votes cast and the committee reported financial

activity exceeding $25,000, the Office of the General Counsel
recommends, in accordance with the Commission's non-filing pro-
cedures dated May 23, 1978, initiating conciliation with respondent
Elect Lowenstein to Congress Committee.

OWEN AUGUSTIN

Owen Augustin was a Democratic candidate for the U.S. House
of Representatives. He lost the election receiving 1,419 votes or
6.8% of the votes cast. After publication of respondent Owen
Augustin's name, his committee, Committee to Rlect Augustin to
Congress, filed two ten day pre-election reporte listing financial
activity aggregating $6,574 on one report and $3,702 on the other.
As the candidate received less than 30% of the vote and the committee
has reported minimal financial activity, the Office of the General
Counsel, in accordance with the Commission's non-filer procedures
dated May 23, 1978, recommends that no further action be taken

against respondent Owen Augustin.

III. RECOMMENDATION
1. Take no further action at this time and close the file
with respect &0 the following respondents:
Irving Gross
Nicholas DeMartino
Katz For Congress Committee
Owen Augustin
2. Initiate conciliation with respondents Vito Battista and
Elect Lowenstein to Congress Committee. Approve the attached

conciliation agreements. Send the attached letters.




wen W/2./08

Génaral Counsel

ATTACHMENTS :
Letters
Conciliation Agreements
Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K STREET N.W.
WASHINGTON,DC. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. Vito Battista
289 Etna Street
Brooklyn, NY 11208

RE: MUR 747 (78)
Dear Mr. Battista:

On August 2, 1978 and September 6, 1978, the Commission
found reasonable cause to believe that you violated 2 U.S.C.
§432(e) (1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2 for failing to file a
candidate statement and designate a principal campaign commit-
tee; and 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) for failing to file a Ten Day
Pre-Election Report.

The Commission has a duty to attempt to correct such
violations for a period of 30 days by informal methods of
conference, con:iliation and persuasion, and by entering
into a conciliation agreement. 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (5) (A).

If we are unable to reach an agreement during that period,
the Commission may institute civil suit in the United -States
District Court and seek payment of a civil penalty.

We enclose a proposed conciliation agreement that this
office is prepared to recommend to the Commission in settle-
ment of this matter.

If you agree with the provisions of the enclosed agreement,

please sign and return it along with civil penalty, to the
Commission within ten days. I will then recommend that the
Commission approve the agreement.

If you have any questions or suggestions for changes in

Bt e % e A N e R b R s
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Enclosure :
Conciliation Agreement

20 General Counsel

william C. Oldaker
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K STREET N.W.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. Harvey J. Lippman, Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein to Congress Committee
1345 Avenue of the Americas - 45th Floor
New York, NY 10019

-

RE: MUR 747 (78)
Dear Mr. Lippman:

On September 6, 1978, the Commission found reasonable
cause to believe that your committee, Elect Lowenstein To
Congress Committee, was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1)
for failing to file the 10 Day Pre-Election Report timely.

The Commission has a duty to attempt to correct such
violations for a period of 30 days by informal methods of
conference, conciliation, and persuasion, and by entering
into a conciliation agreement. 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (5) (7).

If we are unable to reach an agreement during that period,
the Commission may institute civil suit in the United States
District Court and seek payment of a civil penalty.

We enclose a proposed conciliation agreement that this
office is prepared to recommend to the Commission in settlement
of this matter.

If you agree with the provisions of the enclosed
conciliation agreement, please sign and return it along with
the civil penalty, to the Commission within ten days. I will
then recommend that the Commission approve the entire agreement.

If you have any questions or suggestions for changes in the



Enclosure:
comailutidn

Allard K. mmmn X
305 East 24th Street, Apt. 17! VR VR
New York, NY 10010 : :
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' BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
November 2, 1978

In the Matter of )
) MUR 747
Vito Battista : )

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of informqtion
ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its superéisﬂry
responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the
Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent

Vito Battista violated 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i) by failing to file

g his 10 Day Pre-Primary Election Report.
i: Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal
ar Election Commission and respondent Vito Battista having duly entered
T into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as follows:
o I. That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction
8 over respondent and the subject of this proceeding.
3 II. That respondent has had a reasonable opportunity to
:z demonstrate that no action should be taken in this

matter.

III. That the pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:

A. That the respondent, as of November 2, 1978, had
failed to file a candidate statement and designate a
principal campaign committe for 1978 primary election.

B. That the respondent, as of NMovember 2, 1978, had failed
to file his 10 Day Pre-Primary Report which was due on

September 2, 1978.




THEREFORE, respondent agrees: 7
I. Respondent's action in failing to file his caadiﬂiti

statement and designate a principal campaign for the
1978 New York Primary was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §432
(e) {1) and 11 C.F.R. §101.2.

II. Respondent's action in failing to file his 10 Day
Pre~-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) () (i).

ae III. Respondent will file the candidate statement and

-~ designate a principal campaign committee as a

™M provision of this conciliation agreement.

= IV. Respondent will file the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report

" of receipts and expenditures as a provision of this

:r conciliation agreement.

:; V. That he will pay a civil penalty in the amount of

o $250 pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (1) .

o VI. Respondent agrees that he will not undertake any

™~ activity which is in violation of the Federal Election

Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. $431, et seq.
GENERAL CONDITIONS

I. The Commission, on:the request of anyone filing a complaint
under 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at issue
herein, or on its own motion, may review compliance with
this agreement. If the Commission believes that thie
agreement or any requirement thereof has been violated,
it may institute civil action for relief in the United

States District Court for the District of Columbia.
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“II. It is nntually ng:cod tant‘thiu agreement -hnll e
| effective as o! ‘the date that all parties hcrato f'
executed same and the Commission has approved the tntire
agreement.
III. It is agreed that respondent shall have no more than
thirty (30) days from the date of this agreement to
implement and comply with the requirements contained

herein, or so notify the Commission.

Date William C. Oldaker
General Counsel

Date Vito Battista
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In the Matter of

Elect Lowenstein to
Congress Committee

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
November 2, 1978

MUR 747

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter having been initiated on the basis of information

ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory

responsibilities, an investigation having been conducted, and the

Commission having found reasonable cause to believe that respondent,

Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee (the Committee), violated

2 U.5.C. §$434(a) (1) (A) (i) by filing its 10 Day Pre-Primary Election

Report late.

Now, therefore, the respective parties herein, the Federal

Election Commission and respondent Committee having duly entered

into conciliation pursuant to §437g(a) (5), do hereby agree as

follows:

)

II.

III.

That the Federal Election Commission has jurisdiction

over respondent and the subject of this proceeding.

That respondent Committee has had a reasonable

opportunity to demonstrate that no action should be

taken in this matter.

That the pertinent facts in this matter are as

follows:

A. That the 10 Day Pre-Primary Report filed by the
Elect Lowenstein To Congress Committee shows
Pre-Primary receipts of $35,754.50 and Pre-Primary

expenditures of $36,673.58;
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B. That the Committee, as of September 2, 1978 !lld _
failed to file its 10 Day Pre-Primary Report; the
report was filed on September 11, 1978, thereby
making the report 9 days late.

THEREFORE, respondent Committee agrees:

I.

II.

i 5 1

Respondent's action in failing to file its 10 Day
Pre-Primary Election Report on September 2, 1978,
was in violation of 2 U.S.C. §434(a) (1) (A) (i).
That it will pay a civil penalty in the amount

of $250 pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a) (6) (B) (i).
Respondent agrees that it will not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C.

§431, et seq.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

I.

Il

The Commission, on the request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. $437g(a) (1) concerning the
matters at issue herein, or on its own motion, may
review compliance with this agreement. If the
Commission believes that this agreement or any
requirement thereof has been violated, it may
institute civil action for relief in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia.
It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall
become effective as of the date that all parties
hereto have executed same and the Commission has

approved the entire agreement.
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Date:

William C. Oldaker

General Counsel

Harvey J. Lippman

Treasurer

Elect Lowenstein To Congress
Committee
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMlSSiON 5

1325 K STREET NW.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

September 29, 1978

MEMORANDUM '
TO: ORLANDO B. Pomndu

THROUGH: TOM msr:moasrﬂg-
FROM: NON-FILER COORDINATOR

SUBJECT: 10 DAY PRE-ZLECTION NON-FILERS - REFERRAL . NEW YORK

In accordance with the Task Force of Non-filers, attached please
find the referral of the candidates and committees that were published as
Non~-filers fer the 10 Day Pre-election Report for the Primary election
held in__ New York

The first notice (reason to believe) was sent by mailgram on

September 4, 1978 - The second actice (reasonable cause to believe) was

sent by mailgram cn_September 6, 1978 A

On September 9, 1978 , the Press Office issued a ralease con-
tainiag the names of the candidates and committees which failed to file
the 10 Dav Pre-eiection Reports.

-

Copies of the ccmpleted ballot chart, certified green cards and
telecons are included in this packet.

Irving Gross

Vito Battista

Nicholas Demartino

Katz for Congress Campaian

Elect Lowenstein to Congress Committee
Owen Augustin

Exminit A

|
i
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